1979

State of Utah v. Larry Vale Potter : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged with three criminal counts (all statutory references are to the Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended):

1. Aggravated robbery in violation of § 76-6-302 (1)(a);
2. Failure to stop at the command of a police officer, in violation of § 41-6-169.10; and
3. Aggravated assault, in violation of § 76-5-103.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury which found appellant guilty as to counts one and two. Appellant was acquitted of

the third count.

Appellant was sentenced to an indeterminate term in the Utah State Prison of from five years to life, and fined \$2,000. The prison sentence was suspended, as was \$1,500 of the fine. Appellant was placed on probation for a period of five years.

Appellant's probation was subsequently revoked, and he was committed to the Utah State Prison to serve his original sentence.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of his convictions for aggravated robbery and failure to stop at command of a police officer, and a reversal of the judgment revoking his probation and committing him to the Utah State Prison.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At approximately 1:30 a.m. on the morning of February 22, 1978, Mr. and Mrs. Von Wayne Johnston were awakened by a knocking on the door of their home. Mr. Johnston went to the door, and observed appellant standing, armed with a revolver. Mr. Johnston asked appellant what he wanted. Appellant stated that he wanted to come in. He then entered the home. Mr. Johnston again asked appellant what he wanted. Appellant replied that he wanted a roll of toilet paper and some matches. Mr. and Mrs. Johnston immediately procured toilet paper and matches and placed them in appellant's hat.

Appellant then said to Mrs. Johnston, "Ma'am, it's best that you go to the right. Me and your husband can handle this now --." (Tr. 18.)

Appellant and Mr. Johnston then stepped outside. Appellant fumbled with his hat and the toilet paper. He seemed nervous. He thanked Mr. Johnston, and shook his hand. Appellant then got in his car and drove off rather hurriedly. Mr. Johnston went back inside. Mrs. Johnston called the Highway Patrol.

Officers intercepted appellant's auto soon thereafter. After a high-speed chase in which appellant apparently discharged his revolver, and in which appellant tried to run the pursuing officers off the road, he was finally subdued.

Mr. and Mrs. Johnston testified that during the incident in their home, appellant was always polite, although he spoke with authority, and that he never threatened them or raised his weapon. Mr. and Mrs. Johnston agreed that appellant seemed in a daze, and that his eyes were without expression, staring blankly, starry-eyed. Mr. Johnston testified that appellant appeared to be very incoherent, without his senses, and "not in the same world as us" (Tr. 9). Mr. Johnston firmly felt that appellant was "on dope" and without his faculties (Tr. 12, 16).

All of the arresting officers agreed that appellant had none of the earmarks of a typical drunken driver, i.e.,

his speech was not slurred, he had no trouble walking, and while he was driving in an extremely reckless manner, he appeared to have complete control of his vehicle. They testified that appellant never pointed his revolver at any of them during his arrest.

Officer Larry Prince testified that while he could not detect whether appellant had been drinking, appellant was acting "abnormally," was "incoherent," without his senses, and "not in the same world as us" (Tr. 38, 39).

At approximately 3:00 a.m. appellant underwent a blood alcohol test, which was introduced as evidence. It showed the concentration of ethyl alcohol in his blood to be .24%, approximately 1-1/2 hours after the incident began. This is three times the statutory presumption of intoxication.

Appellant testified that he had no memory of the incident, that he recalled having about five drinks of whiskey, and that his next memory was wakening in a jail cell. The evidence showed that in addition to the whiskey, appellant had consumed quantities of beer, tequila, Colbenemid, and Benemid. The evidence also showed that appellant had suffered a head injury in 1974 which left a "cortical scar," with resultant abnormal electroencephalogram, and that appellant had been under medication for gout since the age of 25, taking two tablets of Benemid or Colbenemid every day, including the day of the incident.

After his conviction (from which this appeal was perfected), appellant was placed on probation. Among the terms and conditions of the probation set out in the judgment of the trial court dated February 21, 1979, were the following:

3. That the said defendant remain in present treatment with Dr. Lincoln Clark and enter alcohol therapy as designated by the Adult Probation and Parole Department.
4. That the said defendant submit to a breathalyzer test at the discretion of the Adult Probation and Parole Department within reasonable circumstances and hours.
5. That the said defendant totally abstain from the use of alcoholic beverages

The events whereby appellant allegedly violated the conditions of his probation occurred very early on the morning of April 27, 1979. Officer Lawrence Penrod answered a call and met Ms. Lucille Begay, who was at that time standing in the driveway at the home of one Mr. Trokvine. Ms. Begay related that she had been "assaulted" by appellant, and that she wanted to get her clothes from the residence that appellant shared with Mr. Randy Diamanti.

Officer Penrod proceeded with Ms. Begay to appellant's residence. Two other peace officers were summoned, as

was Agent Nat Roth and Mr. Evan Reid. When Mr. Reid arrived on the scene, the entire party entered the residence, with the consent of Ms. Begay.

Mr. Reid and the officers proceeded to appellant's bedroom door. Mr. Reid tested the knob, finding that it was locked. He then knocked on the door, awakening appellant. Appellant came to the door where an extremely brief scuffle ensued between appellant and Mr. Reid. Appellant retreated into his bedroom.

Mr. Reid asked appellant if he would submit to a breathalyzer test. Appellant, after asking if Mr. Reid had a search warrant, stated that he had to get up early to go to work, and was therefore returning to bed. (These events apparently occurred at approximately 1:00 a.m., the exact time being unknown. See Tr. 9.)

Appellant subsequently opened his bedroom door, brought one drawer from a dresser, and deposited it on the floor of the living room area, stating that it contained Ms. Begay's clothing. The clothing was gathered, and the entire party then left the residence.

The trial court found that Ms. Begay had a sufficient "proprietary interest" in appellant's residence to consent to the entrance by Mr. Reid, Agent Roth, and the officers. The court further found that appellant had violated his probation, and revoked the same. Again, appellant appealed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JURY'S VERDICT OF GUILTY OF AGGRAVATED ROBBERY IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

The definition of the offense of aggravated robbery is to be found in the Utah Criminal Code. (All statutory citations are Utah Code Annotated (1953) unless otherwise indicated.) Section 76-6-301 states:

Robbery is the unlawful and intentional taking of personal property in the possession of another from his person, or immediate presence, against his will, accomplished by means of force or fear. (Emphasis added.)

Section 76-6-302 states:

A person commits aggravated robbery if in the course of committing robbery, he: (a) uses a firearm or a facsimile of a firearm, knife or a facsimile of a knife or a deadly weapon; or (b) causes serious bodily injury upon another. (Emphasis added.)

Therefore, the statutory offense of aggravated robbery may be described as having four elements:

1. There must be an intentional and unjustifiable taking of personal property.

2. The property must be taken from the person of another, or from his immediate presence.
3. Force or fear must be used to obtain the property. The taking must be against the will of the rightful possessor.
4. A gun, knife, facsimile thereof, or a deadly weapon must be used to provide the force or fear; or serious bodily injury must have resulted to another.

Appellant concedes that the evidence was sufficient to support a conviction as to elements 2-4 above. Appellant is admittedly guilty of having committed acts that are of a seriously antisocial nature.

The evidence did not, however, prove beyond a reasonable doubt the first element above described, an intentional taking of property.

In order to determine what conduct constitutes "an intentional taking," we must look first to the statutes. The definition of "intentional" is found in Section 76-2-103(1):

A person engages in conduct:

(1) Intentionally, or with intent or willfully with respect to the nature of his conduct or to a result of his conduct, when it is his conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct or cause the result. (Emphasis added.)

As discussed below, the evidence at trial showed rather clearly that when appellant committed the acts in question, he was incapable of forming

. . . a conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct or cause the result.
(§ 76-2-103)(1), emphasis added.)

Section 76-2-103 is not the only statute dealing with the so-called "mens rea" that is generally associated with criminal liability.

Section 76-2-305 provides:

(1) In any prosecution for an offense, it shall be a defense that the defendant, at the time of the proscribed conduct, as a result of mental disease or defect, lacked substantial capacity either to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law.

(2) As used in this section, the terms "mental disease" or "defect" do not include an abnormality manifested only by repeated criminal or otherwise antisocial conduct.

This author's research reveals only one case where this court has dealt with this statute, State v. Dominguez, 564 P.2d 768 (Utah 1977). There a conviction for aggravated assault was affirmed. The court held that the trial court's

instructions on the defense of insanity were not prejudicial to the defendant, even though they were not based on § 76-2-305,

. . . because the District Court gave as a part of its instruction that insanity can exist when the defendant is 'irresponsible or partly responsible.'
(564 P.2d at 770, emphasis added by the court.)

The court reasoned that therefore the defendant was not denied the arguably more liberal defense that is provided by § 76-2-305, which

. . . only requires defendant to lack substantial capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct . . .
(564 P.2d at 770, emphasis supplied by the court.)

As is discussed below, the evidence in the case at bar clearly met the standard enunciated in Dominguez, supra, to entitle appellant to an acquittal.

One other statute bears heavily on the question of an "intentional taking." Section 76-2-306 provides:

Voluntary intoxication shall not be a defense to a criminal charge unless such intoxication negates the existence of the mental state which is an element of the offense; however, if recklessness or criminal negligence establishes an element of an offense, and the actor is unaware of the risk

because of voluntary intoxication, his unawareness is immaterial in a prosecution for that offense. (Emphasis added.)

In State v. Dewey, 41 Utah 538, 127 P. 275 (1912), a similar statute was discussed, § 4070, Comp. Laws 1907, which provided:

No act committed by a person while in a state of voluntary intoxication is less criminal by reason of his having been in such condition. But whenever the actual existence of any particular purpose, motive, or intent is a necessary element to constitute any particular species or degree of crime, the jury may take into consideration the fact that the accused was intoxicated at the time, in determining the purpose, motive or intent with which he committed the act.
(127 P. at 278.)

As is more thoroughly discussed in Point II of this brief, this court reversed a first degree murder conviction because of erroneous instructions based on this statute. As to the state of the law regarding the defense of voluntary intoxication, the court noted:

Independently of a statute, it is the general rule that, while voluntary intoxication does not excuse crime, and is usually not a defense thereto, yet such condition of the accused at the

time of the commission of the offense may be considered in determining the purpose, motive, or intent where these elements become a material question of inquiry. And where one is charged with the commission of first degree murder, involving a specific intent to commit the crime of homicide, the accused may show, in order to reduce the degree of the offense, that he was in such a state of voluntary intoxication at the time of the commission of the crime as to be mentally incapable of forming the necessary intent, or of entertaining or forming a design to take life, and as bearing on the existence or nonexistence of malice, and to explain and determine the accused's conduct with reference to the design, purpose, motive, and intent with which the act was committed. Extended notes to cases in 13 L.R.A. (N.S.) 1024, and 36 L.R.A. 470; 12 Cyc. 172, 21 Cyc. 674, and cases there cited. This, in effect, is what the statute declares.
(127 P. at 278-279.)

In State v. Stenback, 78 Utah 350, 2 P.2d 1050, 79 A.L.R. 878 (1931), a first degree murder conviction was reversed. The court found, among other things, that the instructions given on intoxication were insufficient. The court quoted with approval from 16 Corpus Juris:

The rule that drunkenness is no defense does not apply to the full extent where a specific intent or motive is an essential element of the offense charged.

If at the time of the commission of such an offense the accused was by intoxication so entirely deprived of his reason that he did not have the mental capacity to entertain the necessary specific intent which is required to constitute the crime, he must necessarily be acquitted; and in like manner the fact of defendant's drunkenness should be considered in determining the degree of the crime. This is so, not because drunkenness excuses crime but because if the mental status required by law to constitute crime be one of specific intent or of deliberation and premeditation, and drunkenness excludes the existence of such mental state, then the particular crime charged has not in fact been committed.
(2 P.2d 1053-1054, emphasis added.)

As discussed below, the evidence in the case at bar clearly showed that in fact appellant did not entertain the "intent" necessary to constitute the crime of aggravated robbery.

While the question of what conduct constitutes the offense of aggravated robbery as defined by § 76-6-302 is of course governed by statute, it is still possible to gain an insight as to what constitutes an "intentional taking" by looking to the case law, much of which predates the statute in question.

In People v. Hughes, 11 Utah 100, 39 P. 492 (1895),

a conviction for robbery was reversed, as the trial court's instructions, based on the robbery statute, were incorrect. The instructions neglected to cover the animus furandi, or specific intent to steal, which is an element of robbery. Our court quoted with approval an Iowa case, State v. Hollyway, 41 Iowa 200 (1878):

In robbery, as in larceny, it is essential that the taking of the goods be animus furandi. Unless the taking be with felonious intent, it is not robbery.
(39 P. at 494.)

This rule is not only humane, but a contrary one would be opposed to all the principles which underlie human conduct as respects the bearing of individuals towards each other, and also as regards their position towards the state.
(39 P. at 493-4.)

Accord: State v. Kazda, 15 Utah 2d 313, 392 P.2d 486 (1964).

An interesting case, closely on point, is State v. Brown, 36 Utah 46, 102 P. 641, 24 L.R.A. (N.S.) 545 (1909). There, defendant had been convicted of forgery and uttering a forged instrument. Defendant did not deny the "acts" in question, but asserted a defense based solely on insanity, i.e., mental defect. The prosecution's case was based solely on proof of the acts in question,

. . . without in any way attempting

to rebut or explain the evidence
of insanity submitted on behalf
of the defendant.
(102 P. at 642.)

The evidence of insanity (or lack of capacity) was substantial (although there was also substantial evidence that, at least at times, defendant acted rationally). Among the evidence going to insanity was the amateurishness of the forgery (cf. taking toilet paper and matches); the fact that some of defendant's ancestors were insane; the fact that defendant had long been responsibly employed; that defendant felt the Japanese were the strongest race on earth, and that this was due to their diet, which consisted largely of rice; that defendant was obsessed with money and getting rich; that defendant lied about making large amounts of money; that when defendant's mother died, defendant was unconcerned, and had stated that he had hypnotized her and cured her; that defendant did not take his prosecution seriously; that he neglected his lodge duties; and that he did not feel that he had done anything wrong.

Defendant had called 14 witnesses, all of whom agreed that at the time of his act, defendant was mentally unbalanced, did not know the nature and quality of his act, and did not know or realize that his act was wrong.

The jury was properly instructed, but nevertheless returned a verdict of guilty.

Our Supreme Court reversed, holding that the guilty verdict was not supported by the evidence, that the jury is not at liberty to disregard affirmative evidence, and that a jury verdict cannot be based on a mere presumption of sanity where defendant presents evidence of lack of capacity. The court noted:

But if we assume that defendant intended to forge the checks, which he no doubt did, this is not alone sufficient to make an insane person guilty of a crime.

The true test is whether the defendant, at the time of the commission of the offense, had the mental capacity to know that in doing the act he was doing wrong.
(102 P. at 645.)

The court held that the presumption of sanity had been entirely overcome, and the guilty verdict ignored or disregarded the evidence, since the prosecution offered no evidence of defendant's sanity. After defendant overcomes the presumption of his sanity with evidence, the prosecution must then prove sanity beyond a reasonable doubt.

The court noted:

. . . whenever intent is an essential ingredient of the crime charged, this intent, to constitute the act a crime, must be shown

An insane person cannot be legally

guilty of a criminal intent.
(102 P. at 645.)

Since all of the evidence on insanity was in defendant's favor, the court concluded that defendant had established his defense as a "matter of law," and concluded:

To convict a sane man who is innocent is depolorable, but to sentence a man to the penitentiary for a crime that he did not have the mental capacity to commit would be intolerable.
(102 P. at 646.)

In State v. Hartley, 16 Utah 2d 123, 396 P.2d 749 (1964), a conviction of second degree burglary was affirmed, but the court noted that voluntary intoxication can negate the specific intent to commit larceny, which is an essential element to second degree burglary (as well as robbery and aggeavated robbery). The issue, once raised, is for the jury.

In State v. Green, 78 Utah 580, 6 P.2d 177 (1931), 86 Utah 192, 40 P.2d 961 (1935), the conviction of first degree murder resulting from defendant's first trial was reversed on several grounds. The evidence showed that defendant and his wife had been fighting, that defendant purchased a knife, pistol, and ammunition, and that defendant had shot and killed his wife, her mother, and the mother's husband. The court held, inter alia, that the presumption of sanity obtains until either defendant or the prosecution produces

"some evidence" of insanity. When evidence of insanity is introduced, the presumption "disappears" and the jury must determine the issue of sanity solely on the evidence, without regard to the presumption. It is for the trial judge, not the jury, to determine if the evidence raises the issue of sanity (i.e., it is a question of law), but only "some evidence" is required before the issue must be sent to the jury. If there exists a reasonable doubt as to defendant's sanity, he is entitled to an acquittal, but insanity excuses only where it renders defendant "irresponsible" or partly so.

In State v. Dewey, 41 Utah 538, 127 P. 275 (1912), supra, defendant was both intoxicated and jealous, as to his wife's affections. The wife determined to leave him. She took a hotel room. Defendant went to the room, in an intoxicated state, with a pistol. It was apparently his intention to kill his wife and himself. He was quite loud. He threatened both his wife and another hotel guest and threatened to kill "any cops" who entered the room. The police were summoned. Three officers arrived at the room, and as they entered, one asked a question to the effect of, "What is the trouble?" Defendant, who had concealed his pistol behind his leg, replied to the effect that there was "no trouble," and immediately drew the pistol and shot the lead officer in the chest. He died shortly thereafter.

The evidence at trial indicated that defendant had

suffered from delerium tremens some six months earlier. Both expert and lay witnesses' testimony as to defendant's alcoholic insanity was conflicting.

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