1980

State of Utah v. Larry Vale Potter : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The Court's conclusions were supported by the evidence introduced at the Show Cause for Revocation Hearing on May 23, 1979. Police officers received a report that a barefoot woman in pajamas and nightgown was beating on a door around midnight screaming that someone was trying to kill her (H. at 28-29). She told the officers that she

threatened her, and had thrown her out of the house (H. at 29). She expressed a desire to retrieve her property from appellant's house (H. at 29 and 47).

The officers knocked on the door of appellant's house and got no response (H. at 30). The young woman then opened the door and led the officers to appellant's room (H. at 5,6,13, and 30). Appellant's probation supervisor, Agent Reid, knocked on the locked bedroom door and identified himself while politely asking to talk (H. at 6,30,41 and 48). Without warning, appellant opened his bedroom door and grabbed Agent Reid. Appellant was restrained by Sheriff's Deputy Christensen but not before he tore Agent Reid's shirt (H. at 6,30,42 and 49). Deputy Christensen noted a strong odor of alcohol about appellant (H. at 50). Faced with a report of drinking and violence and the fact of appellant's violent reaction and hysterical behavior (H. at 43), Agent Reid requested that appellant submit to a breathalyzer test. Appellant refused to take the test (H. at 8,9,31 and 50). Appellant admitted the struggle with Agent Reid (H. at 53) and remembered the request to take a breathalyzer test (H. at 53). He also noted that the woman had clothes in his room in a drawer which he eventually threw into the living room (H. at 54).

The evidence clearly indicates that appellant engaged in violent behavior with respect to Agent Reid. His refusal to take a breathalyzer test was also shown by uncontradicted evidence. Appellant does not now contend that these matters were shown. Nor does he contend that the terms of his probation were unreasonable. Rather, he argues that the actions of the officers in entering his home and requesting a breathalyzer exam were improper and unreasonable (Appellant's Brief at 54-57). He further argues that the lower court acted unreasonably in revoking his probation on those grounds (Appellant's Brief at 64-65).

It is well settled that revocation of probation is a matter within the discretion of the trial judge. In Williams v. Harris, 106 Utah 387, 149 P.2d 640 at 642 (1944), this Court noted:

The right to suspend imposition of sentence and the right to place one on probation is a discretionary right. One placed upon probation has a right to be heard as to whether he has violated the conditions upon which suspended sentence was based. . . Upon such a hearing, the trial court has discretionary power to continue probation or impose sentence, but to authorize termination of probation there must be some competent evidence of violation of the terms of probation. Violation of the terms and conditions of suspension or probation is usually a ground for revocation and the imposition of sentence. . . When it appears

that a trial judge has exercised discretion in suspending imposition of sentence or in revoking probation and imposing sentence, after a hearing as heretofore mentioned, the judgment of the trial court should not be molested. (Emphasis added.)

See also State v. Janis, 597 P.2d 873 at 874 (1979), and State v. Knowles, 25 Utah 2d 13, 474 P.2d 727 at 728 (1970).

The standard of proof in a revocation hearing is also much lower than the "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard employed in criminal trials.

A revocation of probation is an exercise of broad discretionary power by the trial court akin to that utilized in imposing the probated sentence initially. Evidence that would establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt is not required to support an order revoking probation. Probably evidence rising to the level of substantial evidence is not even required, absent arbitrary and capricious action in the revocation. All that is required is that the evidence and facts be such as to reasonably satisfy the judge that the conduct of the probationer has not been as good as required by the conditions of probation. . . . On review an action of the trial court revoking probation will not be disturbed in the absence of a clear showing of abuse of discretion.

United States v. Francischine, 512 F.2d 827 at 829 (5th Cir. 1975). See also United States v. Cobb, 588 F.2d 604 at 606 (8th Cir. 1978); Armstrong v. State, 294 Ala. 100, 312 So.2d 620 at 624 (1975); and People v. Witherspoon, 9 Ill. App.3d 317, 292 N.E.2d 202 at 203 to 204 (1972).

The evidence in this instance showed at least two violations of probation without contradiction. The

evidence indicated that the request for a breathalyzer test was entirely reasonable. The officers had a report of drinking and violence and had been directly confronted by appellant's further aggressive, violent behavior. He smelled of alcohol. He had the clothing of the pajama-clad woman who complained of his earlier, violent behavior. The testimony of four officers agreed that appellant reacted violently to a polite, non-belligerent request to talk. The Court's conclusion that appellant violated his probation by acting violently and refusing a reasonable request to submit to a breathalyzer test finds clear support in the evidence. There is absolutely no showing of any abuse of discretion and the action of the trial court should be affirmed.

POINT V

THE FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE
UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION DOES NOT
REQUIRE REVERSAL OF THE DECISION OF
THE LOWER COURT TO REVOKE APPELLANT'S
PROBATION.

Appellant contends that the evidence upon which his probation was revoked was obtained in violation of his rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and should not have been considered by the lower court (Appellant's Brief at p. 58).

The United States Supreme Court has held:

The test of reasonableness under the Fourth Amendment is not capable of precise definition or mechanical application. In each case it requires a balancing of the need for the particular search against the invasion of personal rights that the search entails. Courts must consider the scope of the particular intrusion, the manner in which it is conducted, the justification for initiating it and the place in which it is conducted.

Bell v. Wolfish, 99 S.Ct. 1861 at 1884 (1979). See also Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 98 S.Ct. 330 at 332 (1977); State v. Lopes, 552 P.2d 120 at 121 (Utah 1976); and State v. White, 577 P.2d 552 at 553 (Utah 1978).

The "search" in the instant matter was something less than a full-blown room by room examination of appellant's home. The officers merely accompanied a woman, clad in night clothes, into a house she claimed to live in to question appellant (H. at 5,6,13 and 30). When confronted with appellant's locked bedroom door they stopped and requested appellant to come out and talk (H. at 6,30,41 and 48). Although the officers testified as to what they saw in the house, it was clear that the purpose for entering the house was to confront appellant, retrieve the woman's property, and to determine if, in fact, appellant had violated the terms of his probation. The lower court clearly based its conclusion that probation had been violated on the actions of appellant in the presence of the officers, not upon any evidence obtained as the result of an illegal

Appellant notes that Fourth Amendment requirements where probationers are involved are different than for the ordinary citizen (Appellant's Brief at p. 54). In Latta v. Fitzharris, 521 F.2d 246 (9th Cir. 1975), the Court compared the privacy interests of a parolee and the interests and needs of society in seeing that conditions of parole are met and concluded that it was not appropriate to require a parole officer to obtain a warrant (Id. at 250). The Court stated:

We think that one. . . (restriction) . . . necessary to the effective operation of the parole system, is that the parolee and his home are subject to search by the parole officer when the officer reasonably believes that such search is necessary in the performance of his duties. The parole officer ought to know more about the parolee than anyone else but his family. He is therefore in a better position than anyone else to decide whether a search is necessary. His decision may be based upon specific facts, though they be less than sufficient to sustain a finding of probable cause. It may even be based on a "hunch," arising from what he has learned or observed about the behavior and attitude of the parolee. To grant such powers to the parole officer is not, in our view, unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment. The principal protection against abuse of this authority is the "helping" function of the parole officer's job, and the training that he has received to fit him for that job. A good parole officer does not regard himself as a policeman.

Id. at 250.

In United States v. Jeffers, 573 F.2d 1074 (9th Cir. 1978), the same Court noted that a blanket requirement to submit to warrantless searches was an overbroad condition of probation but held that "since the probation officer had reason to believe that appellant was violating his probation, this search which took place at a reasonable time and in a reasonable manner was proper." Id. at 1075.

In Hunter v. State, 139 Ga.App. 676, 229 S.E.2d 505 (1976), the court expressed what appears to be the majority view with respect to a determination of what searches are reasonable when conducted by probation officers:

The search by a probation officer is reasonable if under all the circumstances, it is actuated by the legitimate operation of the probation supervision process and the probation officer acts reasonably in performing those duties.

Id. at 506. See also Grubbs v. State, 373 So.2d 905 at 905 (Fla. 1979); Seim v. State, 590 P.2d 1152 at 1154 to 1155 (Nev. 1979); State v. Jeffers, 116 Ariz. 192, 568 P.2d 1090 at 1093 (1977) (condition of probation upheld here was held overbroad in United States v. Jeffers, supra, but the specific warrantless search involved was approved in both opinions and revocation of probation was affirmed); and United States v. Farmer, 512 F.2d 160 at 162 (6th Cir. 1975).

In this case, irrespective of whether probable cause for an arrest or search existed, and irrespective of whether proper consent was given for entry into the house, Agent Reid was acting within the scope of his duties when he sought to confront appellant and determine if he had violated the terms of his probation. There was no abusive or violent action by any of the officers. Had Agent Reid waited until morning to confront appellant, any indication that he had been or was consuming alcohol might have disappeared. Moreover, it was entirely reasonable to accompany the young woman in an attempt to retrieve her property. Given appellant's probationary status, there was no Fourth Amendment violation and revocation of appellant's probation was appropriate.

Even if it is assumed, but not admitted, that Agent Reid could not enter appellant's home without a warrant or proper consent, the revocation of probation in this matter should be affirmed. As stated above, the Fourth Amendment prohibits only unreasonable searches. State v. Lopes, supra. In Pennsylvania v. Mims, supra, at 332, the United States Supreme Court stated:

The touchstone of our analysis under the fourth amendment is always "the reasonableness in all the circumstances of the particular governmental invasion of a citizen's personal security. . . ."

The officers in this case had clear and obvious

indications that the complaining woman lived at that time in appellant's house. She told them so (H. at 29). She had only night clothes on and the rest of her clothing was said to be in appellant's bedroom (H. at 29). The officers had no reason to disbelieve her story or suspect her right to consent to their entry. Again it should be borne in mind that no extensive search or arrest was undertaken on the authority of her statement. All the officers did was to enter the house and ask to speak to appellant. His violent response and subsequent refusal to submit to a breathalyzer exam caused his probation to be revoked. This limited invasion of appellant's privacy at the consent of a woman who was sharing his roof, however temporarily, was proper and reasonable.

Nevertheless, even if it is also assumed, but not admitted, that the officers improperly entered appellant's home, the revocation of appellant's probation should still be affirmed. It is generally held that although the Fourth Amendment has some limited application to probationers, application of the strict exclusionary rule in probation revocation hearings does not serve the purpose of that rule. In United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338, 94 S.Ct. 613, 38 L.Ed.2d 561 (1974), the Court noted:

The purpose of the exclusionary rule is not to redress the injury to the privacy of the search victim:

"[T]he ruptured privacy of the victim's homes and effects cannot be restored. Reparation comes too late." Linkletter v. Walker, 381 U.S. 618, 637, 85 S.Ct. 1731, 1742, 14 L.Ed.2d 601 (1965).

Instead, the rule's prime purpose is to deter future unlawful police conduct and thereby effectuate the guarantee of the Fourth Amendment against unreasonable searches and seizures.

94 S.Ct. at 619-620.

In United States v. Wiygul, 578 F.2d 577 at 578 (5th Cir. 1978), the Court said that "[t]he exclusionary rule does not apply to probation revocation hearings absent a demonstration of police harassment of probationers." See also United States v. Fredrickson, 581 F.2d 711 at 713 (8th Cir. 1978); United States v. Farmer, supra; United States v. Vandemark, 522 F.2d 1019 at 1020 (9th Cir. 1975); and United States v. Winsett, 518 F.2d 51 at 55 (9th Cir. 1975).

Clearly, the mere consideration of tainted evidence in a probation revocation hearing does not require reversal of a decision to revoke probation. The damning evidence in this case was the personally observed violence of appellant and the refusal to submit to a breathalyzer test (H. at 64-66). Officers testified that beer was in the refrigerator and that empty beer cans were in the house (H. at 34), but the Court did not include that

finding of probation violation (H. at 64-66). Even though the officers may not have completed the necessary formalities to properly enter the house, appellant's violent reaction to a request to talk and his refusal to submit to the reasonable request for a breathalyzer exam were unjustified. The officers did not threaten, or harass appellant and his actions in violation of his probation requirements could not be overlooked even if the officers had failed to conform to all the technicalities of the law.

In summary, the entry of the officers into appellant's home was reasonable and not in violation of the Fourth Amendment guarantee against unreasonable searches. The action was taken as a legitimate exercise of a probation officers' powers necessary to the adequate performance of his duties. The request for submission to a breathalyzer exam was entirely reasonable in light of appellant's conduct. Even if Agent Reid had no authority on his own to enter the house, it was reasonable for the officers to act in reliance upon the woman's representation that she lived in the house and could allow them to enter. Moreover, even if she had no such authority and the officers should not have entered the house without a warrant, the strict exclusionary rule should not be applied in the probation revocation setting and the fact of appellant's violent behavior and unreasonable refusal to take a

breathalyzer exam could not have been overlooked by the trial court. The revocation of probation was proper and should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The evidence of appellant's reduced capacity due to insanity and/or intoxication was not so overwhelming as to require the jury's determination of guilt to be overturned. Specific intent may be inferred from circumstantial evidence. It cannot be said that the jury, without doubt, acted unreasonably since they were properly instructed as to the required proof of intent and the potential defenses of reduced capacity and intoxication.

The lower court's exercise of discretion in revoking appellant's probation was also supported by the evidence. There is no indication of any abuse of discretion. Moreover, the Fourth Amendment was not violated by the entry into appellant's home without a warrant. It was reasonable for the officers to have relied upon the apparant authority of the complainant. In any event, if the entry was improper, it constituted harmless error.

The conviction, sentence, and commitment of
appellant should be affirmed.